THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Oct 07 2022

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001498

The State, Respondent,

v.

Tommy Lee Benton, Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

R. Walker Humphrey, II
WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.
133 River Landing Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
(843) 619-4426

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
**SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION
ON INDIGENT DEFENSE**
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 734-1330

Attorneys for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the circuit court exercised sound discretion when granting a mistrial for Benton's failure to formally respond to a Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP, alibi request, where the State did not provide the information required for Benton to respond, he otherwise disclosed his alibi to the State, and the circuit court failed to consider less drastic alternatives to a mistrial?

- II. Did the Court of Appeals exceed Rule 220(c), SCACR, thereby violating Benton's due process rights, by affirming the admission of text and Facebook messages under an additional sustaining ground without notice to Benton when that ground was not raised to or ruled upon by the circuit court, not argued by the State in its brief, not referenced during oral argument, and not developed in or supported by the record?

- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the circuit court was within its discretion to admit victim body photographs solely to corroborate substantial undisputed evidence of malice, where such photographs are inadmissible when they show facts which otherwise have been established by competent evidence and the State only used them to inflame the jury?

INTRODUCTION

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals for its failure to properly apply fundamental principles of law in three respects.

First, the Court of Appeals erred in holding that the circuit court exercised sound discretion when declaring a mistrial during Petitioner Tommy Lee Benton's first trial. The circuit court declared a mistrial because Benton did not provide a formal response to the State's Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP, alibi request. The circuit court and the Court of Appeals incorrectly held that the State triggered Benton's disclosure obligation under Rule 5(e)(1)'s plain language, and neither court considered Benton's voluntary alibi disclosure or obvious alternatives to a mistrial. Manifest necessity for the mistrial did not exist, and retrying Benton violated his Double Jeopardy rights.

Second, the Court of Appeals exceeded the limits of additional sustaining grounds under Rule 220(c), SCACR. The court correctly held that the circuit court erred in authenticating over 1,000 text and Facebook messages solely because they were downloaded from Benton's and a co-defendant's phones. But the Court of Appeals *sua sponte* held that the messages nevertheless were authenticated by their content—a theory which no party raised to either the circuit court or the Court of Appeals, which the Court of Appeals did not raise during oral argument, which is a discretionary determination that is not within an appellate court's power to make, and which is not found in or supported by the record. The Court of Appeals should have stopped at holding the circuit court erred and not generated this additional sustaining ground.

Third, the Court of Appeals and the circuit court failed to apply this Court's well-established standard for admitting victim body photographs. This Court has held for decades that such photographs must be relevant to substantiate or prove specific disputed facts. A court cannot admit victim body photographs if they merely corroborate undisputed facts. The Court of Appeals

nevertheless affirmed the admission of gruesome photographs of a burned body simply because they corroborated uncontested facts proven by other evidence. Moreover, the Court of Appeals never addressed the State's use of the photographs at trial. The State did not even use them for corroboration—instead, it improperly used them to inflame the jury by asking Benton's co-defendant if the gruesome injuries were “worth \$1500.”

Benton therefore respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Court of Appeals, vacate his convictions under the Double Jeopardy clause, and remand for entry of an order dismissing his indictments and releasing him from custody. If this Court finds no Double Jeopardy violation, it alternatively should reserve and remand for a new trial because the circuit court abused its discretion in admitting the text and Facebook messages and the victim body photographs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mitchell Cheatham, Douglas Thomas, and Garland Rose confessed to murdering C.B. Smith, burgling his home and store, and burning his home and store in April 2014. (R. p. 71, line 2–p. 75, line 21; p. 80, line 2–p. 86, line 11; pp. 450–57). Benton was indicted for Smith's murder on April 21, 2016, and for two counts of first-degree burglary, one count of first-degree arson, and one count of third-degree arson on October 20, 2016. (R. pp. 363–72).

All charges were called for a jury trial before the Honorable Steven H. John on July 17, 2017. The jury was sworn the next day. (R. p. 29, lines 4–10). The State objected during opening statements to Benton's use of an alibi because Benton did not serve a written response to a pre-indictment alibi request pursuant Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP. (R. p. 37, line 22–p. 38, line 2). Benton argued the State did not first provide formal written notice of the time of each offense as required by Rule 5(e)(1) and he nevertheless disclosed his alibi. (R. p. 38, line 5–p. 40, line 24; p. 50, line 21–p. 52, line 10). The trial court found that the State complied with Rule 5(e)(1) but Benton did

not, and it *sua sponte* declared a mistrial. (R. pp. 4–5; p. 41, line 20–p. 43, line 20; p. 54, line 21–p. 55, line 8).

Judge John called a second jury trial on December 4, 2017. Benton timely moved to dismiss all charges under the Double Jeopardy clause because the mistrial was improvidently granted. (R. p. 62, line 18–p. 63, line 24). The trial court reaffirmed its prior ruling and denied Benton’s motion. (R. p. 64, line 8–p. 65, line 23). During trial, Benton objected to the admission of text and Facebook messages allegedly sent by or to him without specific proof that they were, in fact, sent by or to him. (R. p. 27, line 15–p. 28, line 19; p. 144, line 22–p. 145, line 21; p. 164, line 8–p. 165, line 10). Benton further objected to the introduction of three victim body photographs under Rule 403, SCRE, because they were gruesome and did not demonstrate any disputed facts. (R. p. 107, line 1–p. 109, line 21; p. 110, line 21–p. 111, line 11). The trial court overruled these objections. (R. p. 107, line 1–p. 109, line 21; p. 110, line 21–p. 111, line 11; p. 147, line 5–p. 148, line 17; p. 158, lines 8–25; p. 166, lines 11–15).

The jury convicted Benton on all counts on December 8, 2017. (R. p. 294, line 20–p. 295, line 11). Benton filed and served a notice of appeal on December 14, 2017. On October 13, 2021, the Court of Appeals affirmed Benton’s convictions in a published opinion. (App. pp. 1–13). Benton petitioned for rehearing on November 4, 2021, which the Court of Appeals denied on November 18, 2021. (App. pp. 14–37). Benton petitioned for a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals on December 20, 2021. This Court granted the petition on September 7, 2022.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The State knew Benton’s alibi for a series of crimes others admitted committing.

Mitchell Cheatham, Garland Rose, and Douglas Thomas carried out a crime spree that ended in C.B. Smith being burned alive while handcuffed in a chair. It began on April 18, 2014,

when Cheatham and Rose broke into Smith's home in Aynor and stole money. (R. pp. 450–51). Cheatham and Thomas then broke into Smith's store in Aynor on April 26, 2014 and burned it down after finding no money. (R. p. 71, line 2–p. 75, line 21; p. 452). Cheatham returned to Smith's home with Thomas on April 29, 2014, entered it while armed, took what money they could find, tied up and handcuffed Smith, beat him, and set his home on fire with him still bound inside. (R. p. 80, line 2–p. 86, line 11; pp. 453–457). Smith died in the fire. (R. p. 162, lines 3–5).

Cheatham, Rose, and Thomas admitted to these atrocities and claimed Benton participated in them. (R. p. 71, line 2–p. 75, line 21; p. 80, line 2–p. 86, line 11; pp. 450–457). However, Benton was with family in North Carolina during each attack perpetrated by Cheatham and the others. (R. p. 299, line 11–p. 301, line 11; p. 302, line 17–p. 304, line 4; p. 305, line 14–p. 308, line 6, p. 309, lines 3–24; p. 310, line 5–p. 315, line 17). The State ultimately indicted Benton in April and October 2016. (R. pp. 363–72). The indictments do not state the time the alleged offenses occurred.

Before securing any indictments, the State served Benton with one Rule 5(e)(1) Mutual Reciprocal Disclosure Request requesting his alibi for the April 29 murder only. (R. p. 510). The State did not request an alibi for any other offense occurring on any other date. Rule 5(e)(1) provides:

Upon written request of the prosecution stating the time, date and place at which the alleged offense occurred, the defendant shall serve within ten days, or at such time as the court may direct, upon the prosecution a written notice of his intention to offer an alibi defense. The notice shall state the specific place or places at which the defendant claims to have been at the time of the alleged offense and the names and addresses of the witnesses upon whom he intends to rely to establish such alibi.

Despite Rule 5(e)(1)'s unambiguous requirement, the State's request did not include the time Benton allegedly murdered Smith or reference any documents that did.¹ While Benton did not formally respond to the alibi request, he otherwise disclosed his alibi to the State prior to trial. (R. p. 38, lines 3–18; p. 39, lines 6–12; p. 40, lines 14–19). Investigators also interviewed two alibi witnesses—his mother and his uncle's ex-girlfriend—and had another—his step-father—in an interrogation room. (R. p. 317, line 17–p. 318, line 13; p. 328, line 23–p. 329, line 17; p. 339, line 13–p. 340, line 2). At a March 2017 pre-trial hearing, Benton explained he would not contest the crimes committed against Smith because “[t]he defense in this case is that Mr. Benton didn't do it, didn't participate in it.” (R. p. 11, lines 13–23, p. 12, lines 18–22). By the time of trial, two of Benton's attorneys had discussed his alibi and which witnesses supported it, including one subpoenaed by the State, with Assistant Solicitor Lauree Richardson. (R. p. 38, line 5–p. 40, line 24). Richardson did not dispute that claim. A different Assistant Solicitor claimed no discussions took place but conceded he was aware of at least some witnesses supporting Benton's alibi. (R. p. 38, line 20–p. 39, line 1).

II. Benton's first trial ended in an improvidently granted mistrial.

Benton's first jury was sworn on July 18, 2017. (R. p. 29, lines 4–10). The court set aside two weeks for trial. (R. p. 25, line 19–p. 26, line 23).

Benton previewed his alibi in his opening statement. (R. p. 35, line 1–p. 37, line 4). The State objected and asked that the court strike the alibi because Benton had not served a formal

¹ Thomas never signed a written statement, and Cheatham's statement is silent on time. (R. pp. 453–457). Investigators questioned Benton's mother about his whereabouts at 5:30 a.m. on April 29 (R. p. 318, lines 8–13), while their internal records state fire units were dispatched beginning at 2:48 a.m. and the coroner estimated time of death as 2:30 a.m. (R. pp. 464, 496). There is no statement as to when anyone broke into Smith's home or started the fire. The arrest warrant claimed the murder occurred at “at approximately 0230 hours” on April 29. (R. p. 361).

written notice pursuant to Rule 5(e)(1). (R. p. 37, line 22–p. 38, line 2). In response, Benton detailed his open discussions with the State regarding his alibi. (R. p. 38, line 5–p. 40, line 24). As he put it, “[alibi has] always been the defense in this case.” (R. p. 38, line 11).

The trial court spoke with counsel in chambers. (R. p. 41, lines 3–7). That conversation was not immediately placed on the record, but Benton later explained that he argued during the first trial that there was no justification for a mistrial. (R. p. 63, lines 16–18). The trial court ultimately declared a mistrial over Benton’s objection. The court wrongly believed that the indictment and “the Court’s notice,” which was not identified, provided the requisite written statement of the time, date, and place to trigger Benton’s disclosure obligation. (R. p. 41, line 20–p. 42, line 1; p. 43, lines 16–20). The court considered only two alternatives to a mistrial—striking Benton’s alibi in full or allowing him to present it in full—and found both would be unfair. (R. p. 42, lines 5–p. 43, line 3). These options were illusory, as the court suggested it would have granted a mistrial even if the State agreed Benton could present his witnesses. (R. p. 5).

The court held a hearing the next day on the proper interpretation of Rule 5(e)(1). Benton reminded the court that the indictments do not state the time the charged offenses were allegedly committed. (R. p. 50, line 21). He further explained that an affirmative statement from the prosecution as to time is necessary to prevent prosecution witnesses from molding their testimony to defeat an alibi. (R. p. 51, line 18–p. 52, line 10). The State did not address that concern. Instead, it argued for the first time that notice of time had been given through documents that were not statements of the prosecution and were not cited in the alibi request: the arrest warrants, police reports, fire reports, and voluntary statements. (R. p. 52, lines 12–22). There is no evidence these documents were produced to Benton with or before the alibi request. The court nevertheless found

them sufficient to comply with the State’s Rule 5(e)(1) obligation. (R. p. 54, line 21–55, line 8). The court reiterated these conclusions in a written order declaring a mistrial. (R. pp. 4–5).

III. The circuit court held Benton’s second trial over his objection and received inadmissible messages and photographs into evidence.

Benton’s second trial began on December 4, 2017. Prior to the second jury’s swearing, Benton moved to dismiss his charges under the Double Jeopardy Clause because the original mistrial was unjustified. (R. p. 62, line 18–p. 63, line 24). The court “reaffirm[ed] and reiterate[d]” its prior rulings and denied the motion. (R. p. 64, line 8–p. 65, line 23).

At trial, the State principally relied on testimony from Thomas and Cheatham, cell phone data, and crime scene photographs. Thomas and Cheatham are admitted murderers, arsonists, and burglars who offered testimony in exchange for sentencing consideration from the State. (R. p. 92, line 11–p. 93, line 12; p. 94, lines 5–15; p. 268, line 17–p. 269, line 20; p. 274, line 18–p. 275, line 5). Multiple witnesses, including one called by the State, testified Cheatham is untrustworthy and not to be believed even when under oath. *E.g.*, (R. p. 216, lines 7–15) (testimony of State’s witness Kaitlin Rose); (R. p. 315, line 22–p. 316, line 25) (testimony of Benton’s mother); (R. p. 333, line 20–p. 334, line 3) (testimony of character witness Steven Bielinski). Benton reviews the cell phone and photographic evidence below.

Foundational Evidence for Text and Internet Messages

Aside from Cheatham testifying that Benton left his cell phone in the car during the April 26 events, (R. p. 270, line 22–p. 273, line 20), there is no evidence Benton had his phone during these crimes. As noted below, possession of Benton’s phone was expressly disputed. The State nevertheless relied on the location of his phone in relation to the crime scenes. (R. p. 192, line 2–p. 207, line 7). The State also offered into evidence every text and Facebook message from Benton and Cheatham’s phones—over 1,000 messages from March 20, 2014, to May 2, 2014—regardless

of their connection to the alleged offenses.² (R. pp. 373–449). Benton objected to the absence of authenticating evidence confirming the author of each message. (R. p. 27, line 15–p. 28, line 19; p. 144, line 22–p. 145, line 21; p. 164, line 8–p. 165, line 10; pp. 418–449). The court initially agreed the State would lay this foundation. (R. p. 146, line 15–p. 147, line 20). But the court retreated and required the State to only identify the phone from which the messages came. (R. p. 147, line 5–p. 148, line 17; p. 158, lines 8–22; p. 166, lines 11–15). The circuit court found all messages authentic on this basis and admitted them subject only to specific objections to some of their contents.³ (R. p. 147, line 5–p. 148, line 17; p. 158, lines 8–25; p. 166, lines 11–15).

While the State did not attempt to otherwise authenticate the messages, the record incidentally contains sufficient evidence to authenticate a few. For instance, Cheatham authenticated three exchanges with Benton consisting of 25 individual messages:

(1) a message from Cheatham on April 29, 2014, stating, “Bro apparently cb was murdered?? I heard he died in a fire but cops are saying there is evidence that it was murder,” a response from Benton of, “I saw that when garland told me. Apparently he died holding a gun at the front door trying to get out?” and a link from Cheatham to a news story about the fire, (R. p. 258, line 11–p. 259, line 17; p. 425, lines 183–88);

(2) an exchange between Cheatham and Benton from April 9, 2014, nearly three weeks before the fatal attack on Smith, discussing obtaining weapons for an

² State’s Exhibit 71 is a compilation of State’s Exhibits 69 and 70, which are documents generated by Verizon containing text message data associated with Benton’s phone number. (R. p. 142, line 11–p. 143, line 25; p. 155, lines 10–19; p. 156, lines 7–12; p. 157, lines 19–23). Because Exhibits 69 and 70 total 510 pages and the pertinent information is duplicated in Exhibit 71, Benton only designated Exhibit 71 to conserve resources and offered to supplement the record with Exhibits 69 and 70 if necessary. (Final Br. of Appellant at 11 n.3). State’s Exhibits 72 and 76 are data extractions from Cheatham’s and Benton’s phones containing text and internet messages. (R. p. 149, line 24–p. 150, line 4; p. 153, line 24–p. 154, line 8; pp. 462–93). Benton’s authenticity objection applied to the messages contained in these five exhibits.

³ The Court of Appeals observed that “[t]he record on appeal does not contain the entire trial discussion regarding the admission of the text messages.” (App. p. 7 n.3). The record contains the entire discussion regarding authenticity. Consistent with Rule 209(b), SCACR, it does not include every objection on other grounds to individual messages which were not raised on appeal.

unidentified crime that Cheatham claimed was the attack on Smith, (R. p. 260, lines 15–25; p. 447); and

(3) another Facebook Messenger exchange on April 9 about being “on the same page” with a plan for Cheatham to hold a gun while Benton makes someone talk, who Cheatham claimed was Smith. (R. p. 261, lines 11–22; p. 448).

Kaitlin Rose, Garland Rose’s widow, identified one message she personally sent from Benton’s phone on an unknown date. (R. p. 216, line 23–p. 219, line 9). Finally, Benton’s stepfather confirmed that Benton’s mother sent a message observing someone tried breaking into Benton’s truck on the evening of April 29. (R. p. 327, lines 23–25; *see also* p. 394, line 562). No witness authenticated any other message allegedly sent to or received from Benton or Cheatham.

Specific authentication of each message was critical because Benton disputed possession of and access to his phone. His mother and great-grandmother testified that Cheatham had Benton’s phone the night of Smith’s murder. (R. p. 312, line 17–p. 315, line 10; p. 331, line 20–p. 332, line 5). Cheatham admitted to accessing Benton’s phone on at least one occasion during the April 26 arson and burglary. (R. p. 270, line 22–p. 273, line 20). As noted, Kaitlin Rose sent messages from Benton’s phone. (R. p. 216, line 23–p. 219, line 9). And she only denied that Garland borrowed Benton’s phone “for long periods of time”; she did not claim he never borrowed it. (R. p. 215, lines 7–9).

Victim Body Photographs

At trial, the court admitted thirty-nine photographs of the scene following the April 29 fire without objection. (R. p. 113, lines 8–19; p. 115, lines 6–22; p. 119, line 21–p. 120, line 10; p. 122, line 11–p. 127, line 4; p. 132, line 17–p. 133, line 5; p. 141, lines 4–11; State’s Exs. 16–53, 57). At issue here are three photographs showing Smith’s burned remains. State’s Exhibit 54 depicts Smith’s charred body with his intestines and other organs falling out, State’s Exhibit 55 shows the same but from a slight distance, and State’s Exhibit 56 depicts Smith’s detached, dried up, and

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