**RECEIVED**

**Nov 07 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

TOMMY LEE BENTON,.....PETITIONER

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
**Appellate Case No. 2021-001498**  
**Opinion No. 5868**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

JIMMY RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 65282

Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549

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

being defined as the public's interest in a fair trial designated to end in just judgment.”) (quoting *State v. Prince*, 279 S.C. 30, 33, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1983)).

Lastly, appellant suggests that there was no discussion of a possible “brief” continuance. As a first point, it would be difficult to discuss that which was not known to the State. The State would have little input as to what time would be necessary for investigation. Secondly, the suggestion the mistrial trial was made without input from defense counsel is contradicted by the record. The judge did not assume a notice failure but discussed the failure with the parties. Further, before ruling, the record reflects a conference was held with the parties off the record. (R. p. 41, lines 3-5). But, and as a third point, the absence of manifest necessity is not shown by creating of possible other scenarios. As the United States Supreme Court clearly stated, “it is manifest that the key word ‘necessity’ cannot be interpreted literally; instead, contrary to the teaching of Webster, we assume that there are degrees of necessity, and we require a ‘high degree’ before concluding that a mistrial is appropriate.” *Washington*, 434 U.S. at 506. At bottom, the decision to grant a mistrial is still a discretion decision which implicitly indicates that judges may differ in their treatment of the facts and circumstances before them. *Id.*, at 511. The record here, though, shows a thoughtful consideration of the clearly available alternatives, and a deliberate thoughtful decision on the rights of the defendant and the duty to ensure fair proceedings. Again, appellant does not show an abuse of discretion. This record supports the trial judge’s decision. Moreover, the judge took specific steps to order disclosures and set a date certain so that the matter could be fairly concluded quickly. This again shows deliberate and thoughtful consideration of the rights of the parties and fairness in resolution, particularly in ensuring that appellant would not have a long delay in resolving the charges, even though the delay was attributed to his non-disclosure.

In sum, not only did the defense acquiesce to the mistrial based on its own failure to disclose names and addresses of its alibi witnesses, but there was also manifest necessity in this specific circumstance such that retrial was not barred. The deliberate consideration of the necessity of the mistrial, available alternatives, and duty to ensure fair proceedings are more than adequately reflected.

The Respondent would also argue that the brief delay due to this mistrial (due to the Petitioner's lack of alibi notice), caused the Petitioner no prejudice. This case was delayed for only five months and during trial the Petitioner was allowed to present all of his alibi witnesses for testimony before the jury.<sup>4</sup>

- 2. The Court of Appeals did not err in making a decision that was not argued by the solicitor nor the Respondent. According to Rule 220(c) SCACR the Court of Appeals is allowed to affirm an order upon any ground(s) appearing in the record, there exists no violation of the Petitioner's due process rights. The Court of Appeals also did not err in determining that the text messages sent from the Petitioner's phone were sufficiently authenticated by circumstantial evidence.**

During trial there were text and Facebook messages allowed into evidence. These messages revealed the planning between Petitioner and his co-defendants. Within their opinion the Court of Appeals decided,

“The timing and distinctive characteristics of the text messages here – in addition to Cheatham's identification of certain messages during his testimony – provided the circumstantial evidence necessary for authentication.”

*Benton*, 865 S.E.2d at 926.

In *Benton*, the Court of Appeals also decided,

---

<sup>4</sup> In order for this court to reverse a case based on the erroneous admission or erroneous exclusion of evidence the plaintiff must show error and prejudice. *Timmons v. South Carolina Tricentennial Commission*, 254 S.C. 378, 406, 175 S.E.2d 805, 819 (1970).

“The authentication of the “Tommy Lee Kruspe” Facebook messages is more problematic. State’s Exhibit 76 is a collection of Facebook message, some of which Cheatham identified as an April 9 conversation he had with Benton about robbing the victim. Cheatham testified they had ‘just spoken on the phone about it,’ and he messaged Benton because he was unsure about the plan. Others include speculating as to Garland’s involvement and location, with noncommittal responses from ‘Kruspe.’ The contents of the Facebook messages were obtained through a Cellebrite extraction of Benton’s phone. Like Cheatham, Katlin Rose testified as to her belief that she was communicating with Benton through the Tommy Lee Kruspe account, but there is no other evidence to necessarily tie Benton to her messages or the possession of his phone on April 9.”

*Id.*, 435 S.C. at 265, 865 S.E.2d at 926-27.

The Court of Appeals finally concluded,

“To the extent the admission of the Facebook messages was erroneous, we find it harmless because the messages were cumulative to Cheatham’s testimony that he began to plan the burglaries with Benton in late March and early April.”

*Id.*

### **Standard of Review**

A ruling on admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed without an abuse is discretion. *State v. Washington*, 379 S.C. 120, 123-124, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604. An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *State v. Bryant*, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007). Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 566, 816 S.E.2d 566, 574 (2018).

### **Discussion**

#### **Rule 220(c)**

Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals correctly decided that the trial court erred in authenticating Facebook messages. Although the Court of Appeals did conclude that, “the

admission of the Facebook messages was erroneous.” *Benton*, 865 S.E.2d at 927. The Court of Appeals, however, found that the inclusion of the text messages was not done in error. There was sufficient evidence presented to authenticate the text messages through circumstantial evidence. The Petitioner argues that the decision that the messages being authenticated by their content was not raised by the State, so it was not preserved for appeal. It is the opinion of the Petitioner that this ruling creates a novel question of law. However, the authority of the Court of Appeals to make this decision can be found in the rules of the Appellant Law Court which specifically state:

The Appellant court may affirm any ruling order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.

Rule 220(c) SCACR.

This matter has been previously addressed and ruled on by this Court. *State v. Smith*, 316 S.C. 53, 447 S.E.2d 175 (1993)(Appellate court can affirm criminal conviction for any reason appearing in the record.); *I'on L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000)(Appellate Court may affirm for any reason appearing in the record.), *also see, State v. Beck*, 342 S.C. 129, 536 S.E.2d 679 (2000) n.4; *State v. Humphries*, 354 S.C. 87, 579 S.E.2d 613 (2003) n. 2; and, *State v. Griffin*, 339 S.C. 74, 528 S.E.2d 668 (2000) n. 2.

It is clear that under Rule 220(c) of the Appellant Court Rules the Court of Appeals is allowed to affirm a decision of the trial court based on information presented in the record. It is clear in their opinion the Rules allow this decision, and the legal and factual basis exists in the record to justify this decision.

#### Harmless Error

Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals erred in determining that the error of allowing the Facebook posts into evidence was harmless. The Court of Appeals determined that since these posts were cumulative to the testimony of co-defendant Mitchell Cheatham, any error in allowing

these posts into evidence was harmless. Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v. Burton*, 326 S.C. 605, 610, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997). The evidence in the Facebook posts was related to the planning that Mitchell Cheatham testified to, so it was cumulative. The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence. *State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978).

Without the Facebook posts there was sufficient evidence for a conviction. The Petitioner's cell phone was connected to the tower closest to the incident location on the day of the murder, and first robbery. (R. p. 194 line 21 – p. 195 line 17; p. 196 line 22 – p. 200 line 16; p. 200 line 18 – p. 204 line 8). Co-defendant's Douglas Thomas and Mitchell Cheatham without promise of leniency both testified for the state. They both presented identical versions as to how the crime occurred. Text messages Petitioner sent to his girlfriend at 11:28pm on the date of the incident stated, "About to try get \$100 g" (R. p. 393). A text from the co-defendant Cheatham to the Petitioner asking if another co-defendant "would be down, and "Tell him we pay big." (R. p. 373). On April 26, the day the store was burned to the ground, Petitioner texted a co-defendant to, "meet us at 501, tell us when you're close to C.B Furniture Outlet." (R. p. 377). This was the victim's store that they burned down.

Since there was ample evidence to prove Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt the error should be considered harmless. An insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless when guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). Court of Appeals rightfully decided that the admission of the Facebook messages was harmless because

they were cumulative to Cheatham’s testimony, that they began to plan the burglaries with Petitioner in late March and early April. *Benton*, 435 S.C. at 265, 865 S.E.2d at 927.

Text and Facebook Messages

“As a general rule, statements or declarations made by one accused of a crime are admissible against him.” *State v. Beck*, 342 S.C. 129, 134, 536 S.E.2d 679, 682 (2000) (quoting *State v. Plyler*, 275 S.C. 291, 295, 270 S.E.2d 126, 128 (1980)). The texts were admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(A) because the communication reflected statements by appellant offered in his trial. Appellant contends that the error in admission rests with a lack of authentication – specifically without evidence he and Cheatham “actually sent or received them.”<sup>5</sup>

However, “[t]he requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. The party offering the evidence at issue is tasked with showing “evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” *Id.* “[T]he burden to authenticate ... is not high’ and requires only that the proponent ‘offer a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the

---

<sup>5</sup> The issue of authentication is not clearly raised in the discussions before the trial judge, and there is some question as to waiver of the issue as defense counsel argued that some of the messages were clearly admissible when parties identified the message. (R. p. 341, lines 1-16). Further, defense counsel conceded that at some point Benton had the phone identified as Benton’s phone. (R. p. 342, lines 18-20). However, the Court continued with individual analysis as offered by the defense and the prosecution and found that the messages were probative especially considering the suggestion by some of the defense testimony that the phone was not with (or shown to be with) Benton. Though not exceedingly clear, by the time of argument on the record, the basic objection appeared to rest more on more prejudicial than probative rather than lack of authentication. (R. p. 343, line 1 – p. 356, line 15). Thus, is questionable that the argument on authentication is properly before the Court. *See, e.g., State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon...”).

evidence is authentic.” *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64–65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (alternations in original) (quoting *United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014)).

Appellant’s argument fails to consider the totality of the evidence. Appellant concedes that the State presented evidence authenticating three specific text threads – two before the murder and one after. (R. p. 256, line 25- p. 262, line 12). This shows a line of communication between two co-conspirators at the relevant time of their concerted action against the victim. *See United States v. Barnes*, 803 F.3d 209, 217 (5th Cir. 2015) (finding authentication sufficient where witness testified she recognized account and manner of speaking noting “Although she was not certain that Hall authored the messages, conclusive proof of authenticity is not required for the admission of disputed evidence.”) (citing *United States v. Jimenez Lopez*, 873 F.2d 769, 772 (5th Cir.1989)).

Further, appellant’s argument that evidence suggested that “others” had control and use of “Benton’s phone on various other occasions,” an argument that appears at one point to be conceded away in a statement that admitted his possession of the phone, (R. p. 342, lines 18-20), simply misconstrues the testimony. Petitioner cites to testimony from Cheatham, but again, there is a brief handling of a phone, for a couple of minutes, but him not taking the phone. (R. p. 273, lines 9-20). Moreover, there is no mention of the fact that investigators gained possession of the phone from Benton’s family, specifically his stepfather Gregory Hudson, who contacted police to turn the phone over. (R. p. 188, line 2 through p. 189, line 5). This is yet another portion of evidence that indicates authentication.

Of a particular note is that Cheatham’s cellphone, and Benton’s cellphone, are identified as the conversations they had with each other. (R. p. 257, line 4 – p. 262, line 6). The cellphone he identified as Benton’s was the one Hudson gave to investigators. (R. p. 257, lines 16-18; p.

188, lines 11-19). Further still, the testimony at trial was that Benton used his cellphone for its light function during the crime. (R. p. 249, lines 13-25). Additionally, there were extracted messages from the phone which contained information connecting Benton and Cheatham to the messages, (R. p. 167, line 6 – p. 171, line 11), and specifics of planning the crime including references to meetings, a 9mm, and ammunition, (R. p. 171, line 16 – p. 176, line 17). There were similarly connected information and identifications regarding messages posted through the phone, (R. p. 177, line 19 – p. 187, line 3). There was sufficient evidence to meet the low authentication standard apart from Cheatham’s basic testimony. *See generally Com. v. Koch*, 39 A.3d 996, 1005 (Pa. 2011) (rejecting “mere confirmation of number or address” finding “[c]ircumstantial evidence, which tends to corroborate the identity of the sender, is required” suggesting error where “No testimony was presented from persons who sent or received the text messages.”).

At any rate, it is without question that Cheatham testified that he was participating in conversations with Benton outside of specific text messages – he testified Benton was part of the murder. (R. p. 239, lines 10- p. 267, line 13; see also p. 77, line 4 – p. 91, line 19). Text exchanges, if entered in error, could only be cumulative and harmless in light of these remaining testimony and that of co-defendant Thomas. *State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (improper evidence harmless where merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Evans*, 378 S.C. 296, 299, 662 S.E.2d 489, 491 (Ct. App. 2008) (evidence “merely cumulative, insubstantial” did not affect the result of trial and considered harmless).

- 3. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the decision of the trial court in allowing into evidence crime scene photographs of the charred remains of the victim, because the probative value of these photographs outweighed any prejudice it might have caused, these photographs proved malice and corroborated the testimony of a co-defendant.**

### **Relevant Facts**

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